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OPINION
l.

V.H. (“Mother”) wasthe mother of two young children, agirl, D.D., (born 8/4/95) and aboy,
M.H. (born 10/24/97).! On June 20, 2000, she gave birth to another boy. The child was named after
hisfather. Inthisopinionwewill refer to thechild asW.B. IV and to hisfather, W.B. 11, as Father.
Mother had along-term addiction to crack cocaine and feared that her children would be taken away
from her. As aresult, she was unwilling to turn to the Department of Children’s Services for
assistance.

Dr. Susan Campbell, a doctor at the medical center where W.B. IV was born, was
sympathetic to Mother’s concerns and introduced her to Diann Mustin, a founder and member of
Kadesh Barnea Ministries, Incorporated. Ms. Mustin described the organization as “people who
were wanting to keep families together and help young mothers so they wouldn’t get caught up in
the system.”

Prior to and for some time after the birth of W.B. IV, Mother and her children lived in an
apartment in Hermitage with Father. He had ajob and furnished the apartment and other support for
all of Mother’ schildren. After they gotinvolved, Ms. Mustin and her friendsin the organization had
frequent contact with M other and attempted to assist her. They would sometimes bring the children
to their homesto give Mother abreak. During the group’ s early involvement with Mother and her
family, one of Ms. Mustin’s friends, Bobbie Gongwer,? took “primary responsibility” for them.

Mother knew that in order to keep her children and take care of them, she needed to go into
a drug rehabilitation program. Ms. Mustin, Ms. Gongwer, and their friends agreed to help her.
Mother enrolled in a program, but apparently did not complete it. After three months in the
rehabilitation program, Mother lost her apartment. Ms. Mustin and her friends then arranged for
Mother and her children to stay at a house in Franklin owned by Kadesh Barnea. The children
frequently stayed with Ms. Gongwer on the weekends. Sometime in 2001, Mother decided she
wanted to try to make it on her own and moved to an apartment in Nashville.

Whether it wasthefirst place she moved or not, whichisnot clear in the record, Mother got
an apartment, probably in the summer of 2001, at the J.C. Napier Homes, a public housing project
in Nashville. Father testified that he provided furniture for that apartment, since Mother had none,
and provided other support for thefamily. Although the evidenceisnot entirely clear on this point,
according to Mother’s sister, Father lived with Mother and the children at Napier Homes for some

M other also had an older boy, who was in the custody of his father. Father, W.B. Ill, was not the father of
either of the two other children who are the subject of the petition herein, D.D. and M .H., and they each had different
fathers. This appeal involves only M other and the father of the youngest child.

2The transcript of Ms. Mustin’s testimony identifies this person as Bobbie Songworth. However, a document
introduced into evidence shows her last name as Gongwer.
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part of thistime, continuing to provide support. He subsequently moved to his mother’ s house, but
continued to see Mother and the children regularly.

In September of 2001, Ms. Gongwer movedto California. By January and February of 2002,
Ms. Gongwer was repeatedly asking Ms. Mustin to locate and check on the children. At first, Ms.
Mustin wasreluctant to do so, but, in April of 2002, shefound Mother and the children at the Napier
Homes apartment. Because of the condition of and environment in the apartment, Ms. Mustin took
the three children to her home, without objection from Mother.

At Ms. Gongwer’ srequest, the three children were sent to Californiato stay with her in May
of 2002. Mother gave written permission, by a document dated May 24, 2002, for Ms. Mustin to
transport the children to California, and for Ms. Gongwer to care for the children and to seek
temporary custody “until | can care for my children in adrug free environment and myself be drug
free.” The document stated that Father wasinjail at that time. Father also testified that he wasin
jail for three monthsin May through July of 2002. He did not object to his son going to California
temporarily.

During thechildren’ svisit to California, it wasintended that M other would again attempt to
deal with her drug addiction. Again, Ms. Mustin and her friendstried to help Mother. Thechildren
were sent back from Californiain July of 2002. Ms. Gongwer had only enough money to fly them
to Indiana. Ms. Mustin located Mother, and they drove together to Indianato pick up the children.
Ms. Mustin asked Father for financial help in retrieving the children, but Father stated he had no
money since he had only recently gotten out of jail.

After the children returned from California, they again lived with Mother in Franklin in the
house furnished by the organization. During thistime, Mother would frequently take the children
away for the weekend or afew days at atime. Although Ms. Mustin was in frequent contact with
Mother, shedid not alwaysknow where M other and the children were during these absences. Father
testified that M other and the children would visit him (hewasliving with hismother at hismother’s
house) amost every other weekend, and this testimony was corroborated by Mother’s sister.
Because Ms. Mustin did not want him around, Father’s brother or Mother’s sister would pick up
Mother and the children. Although Ms. Mustin doubted thefrequency of visitstestified to by Father,
she acknowledged there were times she knew the children were with Father, times Mother would
call from Father's house, times that she knew Father’s brother had picked up Mother and the
children, and other times shejust did not know where Mother waswith the children. Father testified
that he provided food, clothes, and other items for al the children when they visited and that
whenever Mother called him and said W.B. 1V needed something, he would make sure the child got
it.*> Hedid not pay cash support to Mother because the was afraid she would spend the money on
drugs.

3Sometimes his brother would take the items to M other; sometimes the brother would take M other shopping.
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Ms. Mustin testified that during this time Mother also would sometimes leave the children
with her for days at atime, without informing anybody as to her destination or plans. After one of
Mother’ sabsenceswith thechildren, around January of 2003, Ms. Mustinreceived aphonecall from
aman who was unknown to her. Hetold her that he wasin ahotel room with the three children and
that he had no food for them or any way to take care of them. Mother had | eft three days earlier, and
the man had no idea where she was or how to reach her. Ms. Mustin went to the hotel and brought
the children back to her own home. She and her husband took care of the children.*

Ms. Mustin was concerned about her ability to get medical care for the children in this
informal arrangement. When she located Mother, she presented her with a document designed to
give Ms. Mustin and her husband legal custody of the three children while Mother entered a drug
rehabilitation program of between six months and one and one-half yearsin length.® The document
included the following condition: “[u]pon verified successful completion of the program in full
accordance with the program requirements and after demonstrating that | am able to maintain a
healthy drug-free, stable family environment for at least 6 months, the Mustins will return custody
of my childrentome.” Mother signed the document on January 10, 2003.° Apparently, Mother did
not compl ete the rehabilitation program nor did she return to Franklin. It isnot clear where Mother
was living, although Ms. Mustin still had sporadic contact with her.

Sometime later, Mother “borrowed” William Mustin’s car without permission. When she
did not returnit after four days, the Mustins swore out awarrant against Mother, who asaresult was
then incarcerated in the Williamson County Jail. By that time, Ms. Mustin realized that she needed
the assistance of the courts. On May 1, 2003, she filed a dependency and neglect petition in the
Juvenile Court of Williamson County, which was heard the same day.” Mother was brought from
thejail to attend the hearing on the petition. The Juvenile Court Referee appointed a Guardian ad
Litem, found that the children were dependent and neglected, and placed theminthetemporary legal
and physical custody of Ms. Mustin.®

Mr. and Mrs. B got to know the children through a vacation bible school the children
attended in the summer of 2003. They became interested in the children and wanted to help Ms.
Mustin with them. After assuring herself of the Bs' character, Ms. Mustin agreed to let them visit

“M's. Mustin testified that she had fourteen children living in her home. She and her husband were the parents
of four of them.

M s. M ustin stated that M other had completed and/or failed to complete programs of shorter duration, but that
none had worked for her on along term basis.

%W e do not comment on the enforceability of such a document in these or other circumstances.
"Father was incarcerated at this time.
8M's. M ustin testified she delivered M other’ smail to her at the time, that the mail included child support checks

for D.D., and that M other bailed herself out of jail, presumably with that money. M other’swhereabouts after that were
not made clear from any testimony.
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the children at her home. They visited several times aweek, and then had the children visit themin
their own home. The Bs had three children of their own.

On July 28, 2003, the Bsfiled a petition for custody of the three children of Mother. Among
other things, the petition stated that they “wish to adopt the minor children and plan to proceed with
legal proceedings necessary to accomplish this adoption.” They had the agreement of Ms. Mustin
and Kadesh Barnea.

The Juvenile Court Referee heard the Petition for Custody on the sameday it wasfiled. The
referee noted the failure of Mother to take responsibility for the children, and the agreement of Ms.
Mustin to the proposed change of custody. The referee recommended that custody be awarded to
the Bs, and the recommendation was confirmed as the decree of the court on August 7. Thereis
nothing in the record to show that either Mother or Father received written notice that the petition
for change of custody had been filed or that the petition had been granted. They also received no
other type of notice prior to the proceeding. Father was in prison at the time,® and he routinely
telephoned Ms. Mustin to check on and talk to W.B. Ill. Ms. Mustin did not inform him of the
petition to change custody or the proceedings thereon.

Thechildrenwent to livewith the Bsand started the school year. Even after thischange, Ms.
Mustin did not tell Mother or Father that the children were now in the custody of someone else.
During this time period Ms. Mustin told Father when he called that she could not put W.B. IV on
the phone because* you just missed him.” Mother and Father at some point learned that the children
were no longer with Ms. Mustin. Ms. Mustin testified that after a period with no contact from
Mother, Mother called and *“ somehow she [Mother] found out that they were living with somebody
else.” Whether inthisor asubsequent call, Mother becameangry and cursed Ms. Mustin. She made
more telephone calls, and Ms. Mustin felt harassed and stopped taking phone calls from Mother.
That was the turning point in Ms. Mustin’ srelationship with Mother. She testified that she did not
tell Mother where the children were because she wanted to spare the Bs from harassment. Mrs. B
testified that she had asked M's. Mustin not to give out the information that the Bs had custody of the
children or any contact information about them.

M other and Father found out, apparently through family members, that the children werewith
the Bs.'® Mr. and Mrs. B did not meet or have any contact with Father until after he got out of
prison. After Father wasreleased on October 23, 2003, and learned how toreachW.B. 1V, hecalled

®*Thisincarceration was for violation of probation. Father admitted on cross-examination to numerous run-ins
with the law and several misdemeanor and felony convictions. Heisarecovering addict who also sold drugsin the past.
He testified that as of the date of trial, he had been clean for 14 months.

©\rs. B testified that she ran into one of M other’s family members while she had D.D. in tow and gave him
her home phone number, “and said that we would be willing to work with them, if they would like to call and check on
her.” Mrs. B did not remember when thisincident occurred. Father testified that a cousin who works at the Bs' church
called Father’s mother and told her that the Bs had had her grandson, W.B. 1V, baptized, and that was how he learned
of his son’s whereabouts.
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the Bs, wanting to see hischild. That call became contentious. He had also called Ms. Mustin, and
that conversation led the Bsto seek arestraining order against him.** The petition was resolved by
agreement.

On November 3, 2003, the Bsfiled three petitions in the Juvenile Court to terminate the
parental rights of Mother and the fathers of each of the three children. The petitions only cited a
single ground for termination: “. . . because [respondents have] abandoned the child as defined by
Tennessee statutory and case law in that a period of at least four (4) months has immediately
preceded the filing of this Petition during which the [Respondents have] willfully failed to pay
support for the child or maintain regular contact with the child.”

After therestraining order petition was dismissed, Father was all owed two supervised visits
with hisson at the Bs' church. He also dropped off Christmas presentsfor all three children at the
Bs home. In January, Father’s mother became serioudly ill, and he was unable to visit his son for
awhile. He caled the Bs and asked that W.B. Il be brought to visit his grandmother, and they
declined. He later asked that the child attend his grandmother’ s funeral, and again they declined.

In January of 2004, both Mother and Father filed petitions to set visitation, since visitation
had not been addressed in the custody orders. After a hearing on January 26, 2004, those petitions
were continued and set to be heard with the petition for termination of parental rights. Neither Father
nor Mother was allowed any visitation during thistime. On March 2, 2004, Father filed a petition
for custody of hisson. He stated that he had been incarcerated during the hearing that led to the Bs
obtaining custody and that he had not been given any notice of the proceeding. He further claimed
to have ameaningful relationship with W.B. IV and insisted that he has “maintained continual care,
supervision and support of the minor child since his birth and until a period of incarceration in
February 2003 and ending October 23, 2003.”

1. THE TERMINATION HEARING
The hearing on the Bs' petition for termination was conducted on March 3, 2004. Both
Mother and Father were present and represented by counsel. A Guardian ad Litem represented the

interests of the children.

Of the ninewitnesseswho took the stand, Diann Mustintestified at thegreatest length. Other
testifying witnesses were Mrs. B, Mr. B, aCASA volunteer,'” a child and family therapist who had

On October 29, 2003, the Bs filed a petition for restraining order against Father, alleging that he “has
threatened to physically take custody of [W.B. 1V]. The petitioners fear that he will do so, and abscond with the child
and/or children.” Father denied making any such threats. Following a hearing before the Juvenile Referee, the petition
for restraining order was dismissed by agreement with a warning.

12CA SA volunteer Harry Boyco testified that he had visited Father’shome in February 2004 and found it clean

and adequate and that M other appeared to be staying there with Father. He also visited the Bs, and stated that he thought
(continued...)
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counseled one of the children, anursewho was afriend of Mother, the younger sister of Mother, and
respondent W.B. 11, Father. Mother herself did not take the stand.

Diann Mustin told of longtime efforts by herself and her friends to help Mother overcome
her drug addiction. Despite those efforts, and despite Mother’s several attempts at rehabilitation
through various programs, Mother had been unable to stay off drugs. Ms. Mustin and her friends
took the steps that they felt were necessary to protect the children from their parents.

Ms. Mustin's testimony regarding Mother’s history of drug use and failed attempts to
overcome it was essentially uncontradicted by other witnesses. However, Ms. Smith-Keaton
testified in Mother’s behalf. The witness, an LPN working with Meharry Medical College, met
Mother threeyearsearlier when Mother wasin adrug treatment program for pregnant women. They
had remained friends. Ms. Smith-Keaton attempted to provide support for Mother in dealing with
her drug addiction. She testified that Mother had recently completed a 28-day inpatient treatment
program at Meharry and had since taken stepstoward improving her life so that she could regain her
children. For example, Mother had gotten ajob. However, Ms. Smith-Keaton also testified that
Mother had chosen not to participate in the program’s after care component. It was the witness's
belief that psychological problems underlying drug use and addiction must be addressed for a
successful recovery, and she noted that no one had addressed these needs for Mother in the past.

Mother’ syounger sister essentially corroborated Father’ sinvolvement with W.B.1V prior to
hisincarceration, including thefrequent weekend visitsto Father’ smother’ shouseand the providing
of support during those visits and otherwise providing items for the child.

The evidence also showed that Father had in the past used and sold illegal drugs. However,
he had been clean for over ayear. When Father took the stand, he testified that during the time that
Mother was living in Franklin, he would often have her and the children come to his house for the
weekend, as set out earlier. Father testified that he had a good relationship with his son and
exercised visitation as often as he could. He claimed, however, that Ms. Mustin and the Bs were
begrudging and severely limited his opportunities for visitation. He admitted that he did not pay
support for his child, but claimed that he furnished the needs of Mother and all the children when
they visited with him. He also stated that he now had aregular job at hisbrother’ s cleaning business
and the helived in and at least partly owned the house that had belonged to his late mother.

Ms. Mustinand the Bstestified that they had reservations about | etting Father havevisitation
with his son. They did not believe that it would bein the best interest of any of the children to visit
him. Ms. Mustin stated that she did not seek to cut Father off from hischild. However, shetestified
that Father had admitted to her on at least one occasion in the past that he was unable to take care
of thechild, andthat “| did have aproblem with him seeing [ Father] because | knew it was hopel ess.
It was a hurtful thing to me because | knew that that’s all it was,” meaning that it was only avisit.

12(...continued)
they were “awonderful family” and that the children appeared to be well-cared for.
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At the conclusion of the hearing, thetrial court announced its decision from the bench. The
court declared that the petitioners had proven by clear and convincing evidence that Mother had
abandoned her children and also stated that it found on its own motion that the conditions of
dependency and neglect which led to the removal of the children from their mother’s home still
persisted and would prevent their safereturnto Mother. See Tenn. Code Ann. 8 36-1-113(g)(3)(A).
Thecourt alsofound that it wasin thebest interest of al the children that the mother’ s parental rights
be terminated.

The court recognized that terminating Father’s parental rights presented a more difficult
situation, becauseit wasnot clear that hewillfully failed to visit hischild. The court held, however,
that the ground of abandonment had been proven because Father had willfully failed to support his
son during the four months prior to the filing of the petition. The court determined that it was in
W.B. IV’s best interest that Father’s rights be terminated because of the child’s bond with his
siblings.

Thetrial court memorialized itsdecisionintwo separate orders, bothfiled on April 19, 2004,
oneterminating the parental rights of Mother, the other terminating therights of Father. Mother and
Father both filed motions to alter or amend. After ahearing on June 3, 2004, thetria court denied
both motions.”® The parties then filed separate notices of appeal, which this court has consolidated
for purposes of decision.

[11. STANDARDSFOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS

A parent has afundamental right to the care, custody and control of hisor her child. Stanley
v. lllinais, 405 U.S. 645, 651, 92 S. Ct. 1208, 1212-13 (1972); Nash-Putnam v. McCloud, 921
SW.2d 170, 174-75 (Tenn. 1996); In Re Adoption of a Female Child, 896 S.W.2d 546, 547-48
(Tenn. 1995); Nale v. Robertson, 871 SW.2d 674, 678 (Tenn. 1994). Thisright is afundamental
but not absolute right, and the state may interfere with parenta rightsif thereis acompelling state
interest. Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 747, 102 S. Ct. 1388, 1391 (1982); Nash-Putnam, 921
SW.2d at 174-75.

Terminating parental rights has the legal effect of reducing the parent to the role of a
complete stranger, and of

severing forever al legal rightsand obligations of the parent or guardian of the child
against whom the order of termination is entered and of the child who is the subject
of the petition to that parent or guardian. The parent or guardian shall have no further
right to notice of proceedingsfor theadoption of that child by other personsand shall

% The petitioners argued that the Rules of Juvenile Procedure and relevant statutes required that all post-trial
motions in Juvenile Court be brought by petition rather than by motion, and that the court could not therefore consider
the motionsto alter or amend. They contended that as aresult, the respondents’ notices of appeal were untimely because
filed more than thirty days after the termination order. The trial court held that the motions tolled the time for the filing
of the notice of appeal, but denied the motions.

-8



have no right to object to the child’ s adoption or thereafter to have any relationship,
legal or otherwise, with the child. . . .

Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 36-1-113(1)(1). The United States Supreme Court has recognized the unique
nature of proceedingsto terminate parental rights, stating that *[f]ew consequencesof judicial action
are so grave as the severance of naturd family ties” M.L.B.v.S L.J,,519U.S. 102, 119, 117 S.
Ct. 555, 565 (1996), quoting Santosky, 455 U.S. at 787, 102 S. Ct. at 1412 (Rehnquist, J.,
dissenting). As a result, “[t]he interest of parents in their relationship with their children is
sufficiently fundamental to come within the finite class of liberty interests protected by the
Fourteenth Amendment.” Id., (quoting Santosky, 455 U.S,, at 774, 102 S.Ct. at 1405 (Rehnquist,
J., dissenting)).

Our legidature has identified those situations in which the state’ sinterest in the welfare of
achildjustifiesinterference with a parent’s constitutional rights by setting forth grounds on which
termination proceedings can be brought. Tenn. Code Ann. § 36-1-113(g). The statutes on
termination of parenta rights provide the only authority for a court to terminate a parent’s rights.
Osbornv. Marr, 127 SW.3d 737, 739 (Tenn. 2004). Thus, parenta rights may be terminated only
where a statutorily defined ground exists. Tenn. Code Ann. 8 36-1-113(c)(1); Jonesv. Garrett, 92
S.W.3d 835, 838 (Tenn. 2002); In re M.W.A., 980 SW.2d 620, 622 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1998). To
support the termination of parenta rights, only one ground need be proved, so long asit is proved
by clear and convincing evidence. Inthe Matter of D.L.B., 118 S.W.3d 360, 367 (Tenn. 2003). In
addition, it must be shown that termination of parental rights is in the best interest of the child.
Tenn. Code Ann. § 36-1-113(c)(2); Inre Valentine, 79 SW.3d 539, 546 (Tenn. 2002).

One of the safeguards required by the fundamental nature of a parent’s constitutional rights
isthat courts must apply a higher standard of proof when adjudicating termination cases. Santosky,
455U.S. at 769, 102 S. Ct. at 1403; Inre M.\W.A., 980 SW.2d at 622. To justify the termination of
parenta rights, both the grounds for termination and the fact that termination isin the best interest
of the child must be established by clear and convincing evidence. Tenn. Code. Ann. §
36-1-113(c)(1); Inre Valentine, 79 SW.3d at 546. “ This heightened standard . . . servesto prevent
the unwarranted termination or interference with the biological parents’ rightsto their children.” In
re MW.A., 980 S.W.2d at 622.

In order to be clear and convincing, evidence must eliminate any serious or substantial doubt
about the correctness of the conclusionsto be drawn from the evidence. InreValentine, 79 S\W.3d
at 546; Hodgesv. SC. Toof & Co., 833 S\W.2d 896, 901 n.3 (Tenn. 1992). Such evidence should
producein thefact-finder’ smind afirm belief or conviction asto the truth of the allegations sought
to be established. Inre AD.A., 84 SW.3d 592, 596 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2002); Inre C. W. W.,, 37
SW.3d 467, 474 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2000). In contrast to the preponderance of the evidence standard,
clear and convincing evidence should demonstrate that the truth of the facts asserted is “highly
probable’ as opposed to merely “more probable” than not. InreC. W. W., 37 SW.3d at 474; see
also Estate of Acuff v. O’ Linger, 56 SW.3d 527, 537 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2001).



Thus, it was the burden of the parties seeking to terminate Mother’s and Father’s parental
rights, herein the Bs, to present “ evidence in which thereisno serious or substantial doubt about the
correctness of the conclusionsdrawn by theevidence” that groundsexist and that termination would
serve the best interests of the children. Inre Valentine, 79 S.\W.3d at 546 (quoting Hodgesv. SC.
Toof & Co., 833 SW.2d at 901 n.3.)

Due to the grave consequences that accompany such decisions, courts must apply
individualized decision-making to atermination decision. InreSwvanson, 2 S.\W.3d 180, 188 (Tenn.
1999). Due process requires the application of stringent standards to insure protection of the
fundamental rights at stake. Because of the constitutional implications, gravity of consequences,
higher standard of proof, and required individualized decision making, our legislature has explicitly
required that courts making termination of parental rights decisions “enter an order which makes
specific findings of fact and conclusions of law.” Tenn. Code Ann. § 36-1-113(k).

Inthiscourt’ sreview, we must determine de novo whether the Bs proved their case by clear
and convincing evidence. InreValentine, 79 SW.3d at 546. First, we must review each of thetrial
court’s specific findings of fact de novo, with a presumption of correctness unless the evidence
preponderates otherwise, in accordance with Tenn. R. App. P. 13(d). Then, we must determine
whether the facts, either as found by the trial court or as supported by the preponderance of the
evidence, clearly and convincingly establish the elements necessary to terminate parenta rights.
Jones, 92 SW.3d at 838; In re Valentine, 79 S\W.3d at 548-49.

V. ABANDONMENT

Abandonment, as defined by statute, isone of the groundsfor termination of parental rights.
Tenn. Code Ann.8 36-1-113(g). The definitions of abandonment are found in Tenn. Code Ann. 8
36-1-102(1)(A), and the ones that are relevant herein include the willful failure to visit (or engage
in more than token visitation) or willful falure to support the parent's minor child (or make
reasonabl e paymentstoward the support of the child) for aperiod of four consecutive months. Tenn.
Code Ann. § 36-1-102(1)(A)(i) and (iv).

The statutory requirement that the failure to visit or to support must be willful is
constitutionally mandated, and intent is a necessary element of abandonment. In re Svanson, 2
S\W.3d at 188. Thus, if thefailureto support or visit cannot be proved to be intentiona or willful,
then abandonment has not been shown. Inthe Matter of D.L.B., 118 SW.3d at 367 (“parenta rights
may be terminated only if . . . the failure to make reasonable payments was willful”).

The concept of willfulness or intent is often the determining factor in whether the existence
of that ground has been shown by clear and convincing evidence. See, e.g.,InreJ.J.C.,D.M.C.,and
SJ.B., 148 SW.3d 919, 927 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2004) (holding that DCS did not show by clear and
convincing evidence that the father’s failure to support was willful since the permanency plans
would have led him to believe that support payments were required only if a court ordered such
payments and the father visited the children and provided giftsfor them); InreL.J.C., A.L.C., and
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J.RC,, 124 SW.3d 609, 621 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2003) (holding that the record did not provide clear
and convincing evidence that an indigent mother intended, rather than was simply unable, to pay
child support); Inre A.D.A., 84 SW.3d 592, 598 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2002) (holding that the proof did
not show that the mother’s failure to visit was intentional rather than the result of a number of
circumstances including DCS's placement of the child in another county).

The question of intent or willfulness is fact specific and depends on the totality of
circumstances. Failure to provide support is willful if the parent is aware of his or her duty to
support, is capable of paying support, makes not attempt to provide support, and has no justifiable
excuse. InreJ.JJ.C, D.M.C, and SJ.B., 148 SW.3d at 926, quoting In re Adoption of Muir, No.
M2002-02963-COA-R3-CV, 2003 WL 22794524, at *5 (Tenn. Ct. App. Nov. 25, 2003) (no Tenn.
R. App. P. 11 application filed). Willful conduct isintentional or voluntary; often, intent must be
inferred from circumstantial evidence. 1d. Willfulnessisaquestion of fact that thetria courtisin
the best position to make. InreD.L.B., 118 SW.32d at 367.

V.GROUNDSASTO FATHER

Asto Father, the petition filed by the Bs alleged that he had abandoned his child, W.B. IV,
in that for a period of four months immediately preceding the filing of the petition, Father had
willfully failed to pay support for the child or maintain regular contact with the child. Thislanguage
tracks one of the definitions of abandonment, Tenn. Code Ann. § 36-1-102(1)(A)(i). Inthe order
terminating Father’s parental rights, the trial court found by clear and convincing evidence that
Father had abandoned his child in that for a period of at least four months prior to the filing of the
petition to terminate he willfully failed to pay support for the minor child. While both the Bs and
thetrial court relied upon the definition of abandonment that isfound insubsection (i) of Tenn. Code
Ann. § 36-1-102(1)(A), that reliance was misplaced because another subsection applies to Father.

Under the applicable definition, abandonment means:

A parent or guardian is incarcerated at the time of the institution of an action or
proceeding to declare achild to be an abandoned child, or the parent or guardian has
been incarcerated during all or part of thefour (4) monthsimmediately preceding the
institution of such action or proceeding, and either haswillfully failed to visit or has
willfullyfailed to support or haswillfully failed to makereasonabl e paymentstoward
the support of the child for four (4) consecutive monthsimmediately preceding such
parent's or guardian's incarceration, or the parent or guardian has engaged in
conduct prior to incarceration which exhibits awanton disregard for the welfare of
the child.

Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 36-1-102(1)(A)(iv) (emphasis added). This definition recognizes that an
incarcerated parent has limited opportunities to visit or to earn money with which to pay support,
making it difficult to show that such failures were willful. See In re Adoption of Copeland, 43
S.W.3d 483, 488-489 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2000).
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In the case before us, Father was incarcerated between February of 2003 and October 23,
2003. The termination petition was filed only eleven days after Father was released from prison.
Thus, the definition found in Tenn. Code Ann. § 36-1-102(1)(A)(iv) was the applicable one. The
relevant period of time for the determination of whether Father abandoned his son was the four
months prior to February 2003. Inre CW.W., 37 SW.3d at 474 (holding that because the mother
was incarcerated for a portion of the four months immediately preceding the filing of the petition,
subsection (A)(iv), which had been alleged along with (A)(i), governed).

The petition alleged aground that could not be applied to Father. Itisclear from thewording
of the order that the trial court terminated Father’s parental rights on a ground that was simply not
applicable, as a matter of law. Consequently, we must reverse the trial court’s termination of
Father’s parental rights based on failure to support in the four months immediately preceding the
filing of the petition.

The Bs argue they aso proved a willful failure to support for the relevant four-month
period.” Becausethetrial court used the ground based on thewrong four month period, presumably
because that was the allegation in the petition, the court made no findings of fact as to whether
Father willfully failed to provide reasonabl e support during the four monthsimmediately preceding
his incarceration.™® That omission would require us to remand for findings on that issue if that
ground were dleged in the petition.® Inre D.L.B., 118 SW.3d at 367 (remanding for findings as
to“all other grounds for termination of parental rights asserted in the.. . . petition”); Inre J.J.C,,
D.M.C., and SJ.B., 148 SW.3d a 928 (remanding for findings as to alternative ground for
termination alleged in the petition).

However we have reviewed the petition and find no allegation of a ground based on willful
failureto support during the four months preceding Father’ sincarceration. The petition specifically

“They base this argument on the assertion that Father never directly paid child support to Mother or to Ms.
Mustin. Of course, such afailure doesnotinand of itself establish awillful failure to make reasonable support payments.

BN listing itsreasons for determining that termination of Father’ sparental rightswasin the child’ sbest interest,
the court also found that father was attempting to make a change in his circumstances, was attempting to live a healthier
lifestyle and abstain from drugs, and had attempted to visit. With regard to the best interest factor at Tenn. Code Ann.
§ 36-1-113(i)(9), the court found, by clear and convincing evidence, that Father had willfully failed to pay support
consistent with the child support guidelines, but it is not clear what period of time this statement refersto. Additionally,
such failure is not a ground for termination, and, as the discussion of willfulness makes clear, does not establish the
ground of willful failure to provide reasonable support.

Althoughin Inre Valentine, 79 S.W.3d at 546, atermination of parental rights case, the Supreme Court stated
that when the trial court has not made a specific finding of fact on a particular matter, appellate courts review the facts
in the record under a de novo standard, the Court later made clear in In re D.L.B. that, at least with regard to the factual
question of willfulness, the trial court isin the best position to make such findings and, where such findings are absent,
the case should be remanded. In a number of cases, the Court of Appeals hasrelied on Inre D.L.B. aswell as Tenn.
Code Ann. § 36-1-113(k), to vacate and remand for the required findings. See, e.g., Inre JW.P., 154 S.\W.3d 586, 591
(Tenn. Ct. App. 2004) (vacating termination order on grounds found by court because of lack of findings of fact and
remanding for preparation of findings and conclusions).
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allegesonly one ground: abandonment by willful failureto support or visit for the four month period
immediately preceding the filing of the petition. This pleading limited the ruling to that ground
because to find otherwise would place the parent at a disadvantage in preparing adefense. Seeln
re M.J.B., 140 SW.3d 643, 651 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2004) (holding that because of the fundamental
nature of parental rights, courts must take avery strict view of procedural omissions that could put
aparent at a disadvantage in preparing for trial)."’

The Bsalso argue that they proved that prior to hisincarceration Father engaged in conduct
that exhibited awanton disregard for thewelfare of hischild, referring to thelast part of Tenn. Code
Ann. 8 36-1-102(1)(A)(iv). However, they did not come even closeto alleging this ground in their
petition, and Father could not be considered to have been on notice that he would have to defend
against thischarge. Thetria court did not make any findings on this alegation and was not asked
to because it was not an issue raised in the pleadings or at trial.

The order terminating Father’ s parental rightsis reversed.
VI. GROUNDSASTO MOTHER

Herein, thetrial court found that Mother had abandoned her children by willfully failing to
support them or maintain contact with them in the four months preceding the filing of the petition.*®
The evidenceis clear that Mother’ s attention to the needs of her children was sporadic at best and
that she did not visit with them or offer them any support between July 3, 2003 and November 3,
2003, the date on which the Bsfiled their termination petition.

The evidence from which willfulness or intent can be inferred, however, is less clear.
Custody of the children was changed to the Bson July 28. Thus, for over three of the relevant four
months, the children were no longer with Ms. Mustin. Ms. Mustin did not tell Mother about the
change in custody. After Mother found out and became hostile to Ms. Mustin in atelephone call,
Ms. Mustin took no more callsfrom her. AttheBs' request, Ms. Mustin did not reveal theidentity
of the children’s custodians.

The evidenceis not clear when Mother learned the children were with the Bs. Father called
them on behalf of himself and M other sometime after he was released from prison. Mrs. B testified
Mother did not make contact with them until around Thanksgiving, after the petition was filed.

It is difficult to understand how Mother could have visited the children while she was
unaware of their whereabouts. Of course, she could have taken steps through the courtsto find the

Even though there was some testimony about the degree of Father’ s support during the child’ s life, we cannot
conclude on the basis of thisrecord that there was an implied consent to try the ground set out in Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 36-
1-102(1)(A)(iv.). See Tenn. R. Civ P. 15.02

¥The court also found by clear and convincing evidence that M other had neglected the children “to the point
that such neglect is shocking” for at least four months prior to the filing of the petition.
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children and establish visitation. Shedid file apetition for visitation in January of 2004, but it was
not heard until the hearing on the petition to terminate parenta rights. TheBsdid not think it would
be good for the children to see their mother since her prior conduct of leaving them caused them
anxiety.

Thereislittle evidence of Mother’ ssituation before Father wasreleased.”® At thetime of the
hearing and for some time before, she lived with him at his house. She had entered and completed
adrug treatment program shortly before the hearing, outside the relevant four month period.

With regard to support, theevidence of Mother’ sability to pay support issketchy. Therewas
testimony she regularly received child support for D.D. from D.D.’ s father and did not send any of
that money to Ms. Mustin or the Bsduring the relevant four month period. Thereisno evidencethat
Mother had any other source of income during that time. Further, the Bs' attorney stated the Bsdid
not request and would not have accepted any support; Ms. Mustin never asked Mother to provide
support.

When the Department of Children’s Services or other child-placing agency obtains custody
of children removed from the parents home, it is required to notify the parents of the statutory
definitions of abandonment and the criteriaand proceduresfor termination of parental rights. Tenn.
Code Ann. 8 37-2-403(a)(2)(A). Insuch situations, acourt cannot terminate aparent’ srights on the
ground of abandonment unless such notice, including the consequence of abandonment, has been
given by the agency petitioning for termination or the court itself. Tenn. Code Ann. § 37-2-
403(a)(2)(B). In the case before us, neither DCS nor another agency was involved, so the statute
doesnot apply. Nonetheless, Mother’ sknowledge of aduty or expectation that she provide support
and visit isafactor in determining willfulness. We find nothing in the record to indicate she was
ever told she was expected to provide support or face termination of her parenta rights.

M other appeared at thehearingonMay 1, 2003, on Ms. Mustin’ spetition for custody, having
been brought from jail that day. The result was an agreement by Mother that the children were
dependent and neglected and an agreement that Ms. Mustin should be given temporary custody.
Mother also agreed to attend and successfully complete a long-term, inpatient drug and alcohol
treatment program. Ms. Mustin testified that long term meant an extended program of twelve to
twenty-four months. The temporary arrangement was to remain in effect until changed by further
agreement, and the final hearing on the petition was stayed “upon [Mother] complying with the
ordersof thiscourt.” Ms. Mustin testified that at the May 1 hearing Mother was informed that the
next court datewasin July.”® Asof the July hearing onthe Bs' petition for custody, Ms. Mustin had

At some point prior to the filing of the petition, Ms. Mustin drove Mrs. B to the Napier Homes area. They
saw M other on a street corner there with a group of people. Ms. Mustin testified M other was making suggestive body
movements. Neither woman approached M other or attempted to talk to her.

DAlthough Ms. Mustin did not state that July 28 was the exact date given, that is the implication. It was the

hearing on that date that resulted in the change of custody to the Bs. The Bs make much of M other’s failure to appear
(continued...)
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not heard from Mother since the May 1 hearing. The next time Mother contacted her was after
Mother found out the children were living el sewhere.

The Bsfiled their petition for custody July 28, 2003, and in it asked that process issue and
that Mother be served and be required to answer. The petition included a notice, however, that a
hearing wasto be held on July 28 at 9:00 am., thesameday it wasfiled. A hearingwasindeed held
that day, without Mother or Father, and an order was entered August 7 awarding custody to the Bs.#

Nothing in the record indicates Mother was informed by anyone that her failure to visit or
support the children for four consecutive months could result in termination of her parental rights.?

Although aparent has acontinuing responsibility to support hisor her children. InreL.J.C.
124 S\W.3d 609, 621 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2003), atermination of parental rights based on abandonment
for failureto support must include adetermination that thefailurewaswillful. Inother cases, DCS's
lack of clarity in notifying parents of the el ements and consequences of abandonment hasbeen found
to detract from proof of willfulness. See, e.g., InreJ.J.C., D.M.C., and SJ.B, 148 SW.3d at 927,
Satev. Demarr, No. M2002-02603-COA-R3-JV, 2003 WL 21946726, at * 13 (Tenn. Ct. App. Aug.
13, 2003).

We find that the evidence did not rise to the level of clear and convincing that Mother
willfully failed to support or visit her children during the four months immediately preceding the
filing of the petition.

In addition to abandonment, the trial court, on its own motion, found “by clear and
convincing evidencethat conditionsleading tothechildren’ sremoval from[Mother] for neglect still
persist and therefore prevent a safe return to the home of [Mother] for the children ...” The court’s
order echoes the statutory language describing an additional ground upon which atermination of
parental rights can be based, commonly called persistence of conditions. Tenn. Code Ann. §8 36-1-

113(9)(3)(A)-

The Bs' petition alleged abandonment asits only ground as to Mother; it made no mention
of persistence of conditions or facts relevant to that ground. On appeal, Mother arguesthat it was
aviolation of her due process rights to base the termination of her parental rights on a ground that

2(...continued)
at that hearing, but the record does not show that M other was ever served with or notified of the petition to give custody
to the Bs.

2T he order stated the children were found to be dependent and neglected due to abandonment by their mother,
“due to the Court’s assumption of [Mother’s] continued drug use, and due to [M other’s] failure to comply with this

Court’s prior Order in this matter.” The evidentiary basis for these findings does not appear in this record.

2The requirement that she enter and complete along term inpatient treatment program would seem to present
difficulties with regular visitation or support.
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was not raised in any of the pleadings. The Bsdo not argue that the court’ stermination of Mother’s
parental rights on the persistence of conditions ground was appropriate. Instead, they assert that the
trial court based its decision on the ground alleged in the petition, i.e., abandonment, and on the
evidence presented.?

We agree with Mother’s argument and the BS decision not to contest that argument.
Generally, a court may only try issues that have been raised in the pleadings. A major purpose of
pleadingsis*®to givenotice of theissuesto betried so that the opposing party can adequately prepare
for trial.” Keiding v. Keiding, 92 S\W.3d 374, 377 (Tenn. 2002). Proper notice is considered a
fundamental component of due process. Mullanev. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S.
306, 314, 70 S.Ct. 652, 657 (1950); Sate v. Pearson, 858 S.W.2d 879, 884 (Tenn. 1993). Whileit
is true that parties may try an issue not raised in the pleadings by express or implied consent, see
Tenn. R. Civ. P. 15.02,%* we cannot conclude that the parties tried atotally separate ground in this
case. Thereis nothing in the record to indicate that the parties had any reason to believe that the
court was considering another ground.

Becausethe privateinterest at stakein thiscase isfundamental, i.e., the permanent severing
of all parent-child ties; because the risk of an erroneous deprivation of those rightsis created by a
sua sponte ruling on aground not alleged is great; and because the government has no compelling
interest in such aprocedure, due process compelsreversal of thetrial court’ s holding that Mother’s
parental rights could be termination on the basis of Tenn. Code Ann. § 36-1-113(g)(3)(A). See
Keisling, 92 SW.3d at 378-80. Mother was at a distinct disadvantage in preparing to defend on a
ground that was not aleged, and the courts are required to view due process requirements strictly

The brief states that minimum requirements of due process were provided Mother because she was given
written notice of the claims and the evidence against her in the petition, given the opportunity to be heard, was afforded
trial rights, had a neutral judge, and was given an order reciting the factsrelied on by the court. It ison the basis of the
assertion that M other was given written notice of the claims and evidence against her that we interpret the Bs' position,
since the only ground alleged was abandonment in the four months preceding the filing of the petition. Consequently,
althoughthe Bs' statement that, “ The Trial Court’selaboration on the facts of the case does not negateitsholding clearly
based upon the proof presented” could be read another way, we interpret it, and the rest of the argument, to essentially
state that even if the court wasin error in relying on aground not alleged in the petition, such error was harmlessin view
of the finding based on the alleged ground. Additionally, the Bs do not argue there was clear and convincing evidence
to support the persistence of conditions ground.

%n Gonzales v. Department of Children’s Services, 136 S.W.3d 613, 617 (Tenn. 2004), our Supreme Court
held that the question of intervention in atermination of parental rights case heard in juvenile court should be analyzed
under Rule 24 of the Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure because those rules apply in chancery and circuit courts and
those courts have concurrent jurisdiction with juvenile courts to hear termination of parental rights cases, because the
Rules of Juvenile Procedure do not addressintervention, and because the application of the rule would not compromise
the efficacy of juvenile proceedings. We think a similar analysis would result in the application of Tenn. R. Civ. P. 15
to termination proceedings in juvenile courts. The Rules of Juvenile Procedure do not directly address the issue of
amendment of pleadings to conform to the evidence or express or implied consent to try issues not set out in the
pleadings. Rule 39 of those rules, governing termination of parental rights cases, however, states that the court shall
conduct a hearing “to determine the issues raised by the petition and by any answer(s) filed.” Tenn. R. Juv. P. 39 (f)(1).
Thisrule does not conflict with the procedure authorized by Tenn. R. Civ. P. 15.02, which should be strictly construed
in a proceeding to deprive a parent of his or her constitutionally-protected rights.
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in cases involving the termination of parental rights. See In re M.J.B., 140 SW.3d at 651.
Accordingly, we reverse thetria court’s holding on the ground of persistence of conditions.

V. CONCLUSION

Much of the testimony at trial and much of the trial court’s ruling had to do with the
children’sbest interests, i.e., the second prong of thetwo-part requirement for termination of parental
rights. It would be improper for us to determine whether there was clear and convincing evidence
that such interests lay in termination of Mother’s and Father’s parental rights because of our
conclusions that no ground for termination was shown by the constitutionally and statutorily-
mandated standard. InreD.L.B., 118 S.W.3d at 368 (“Because groundsfor terminating the parental
rights of [the father] have not been established, we do not reach the best interest of the child
anaysis.”); InreJW.P., 154 SW.3d at 593 (holding that it would be premature to address the issue
of best interests under Tenn. Code Ann. 8 36-1-113(b) absent the establishment of grounds under
subsection (@) of that statute).

Courts are not authorized to terminate a parent’ s rights only because the children would be
better off with such termination. Theremust first be ashowing that aparent hasin essenceforfeited
hisor her rightsthrough conduct thelegislature has determined constitutes sufficient danger of harm
to the child to be made a ground for termination. “The federal and state constitutions require the
opportunity for anindividualized determination that aparent iseither unfit or will cause substantial
harmto hisor her child beforethe fundamental right to the careand custody of the child can betaken
away.” Inre Swvanson, 2 SW.3d at 188.

Thus, despite the good i ntentions of the Bsto provide astable and nurturing environment for
these children by adopting them, our decision cannot be based on the benefits to the children from
such an outcome without proof of grounds. We must also base our decision solely on the grounds
actualy plead and the proof presented at trial and properly admitted into evidence.

However, our reversal of the termination order does not affect the order currently in place
giving the Bscustody of thechildren. InreValentine, 79 S.W.3d at 550. Questionsregarding future
custody or visitation arrangements remain within the purview of the juvenile court. 1d.

The order of the trial court terminating Mother’s parental rights is reversed. The order
terminating Father’ s parental rightsisalso reversed. The costs on appeal aretaxed to the appel lees.

PATRICIA J. COTTRELL, JUDGE
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